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Record No. Address 1820 West Wells Street

Description

The Milwaukee Normal School/Milwaukee Girls' Trade Technical 
High School is a complex of four adjoining structures built 
in stages between 1885 and 1932. It is located in the eastern 
part of the survey area near the downtown. The school and 
grounds occupy an entire block bounded by North 18th Street 
on the east, Kilbourn Avenue on the north, North 19th Street 
on the west, and Wells Street on the south. The buildings 
cover about two-thirds of the block with a small, grassy 
tree-shaped yard along Wells Street and an asphalt covered 
playground parking lot to the rear.

The oldest part of the complex is the original State Normal 
School building. It is' the central core structure facing 
Wells Street. Constructed in 1885, the structure was 
designed with strong vertical lines and proportions that 
are embellished with Queen Anne elements. It is 3-1/2 
stories high and rests on a raised foundation of cut 
limestone blocks. The facade is symmetrically designed and 
is divided by a central pavilion which extends from the 
main block with side wings. The roof is a slate covered 
steeply-pitched hipped, central block which is pierced by 
a series of steeply-pitched gables also covered with slate. 
The roof treatment over the center pavilion is an elaborate 
composition of concave curves which sweep up to a high center 
gable. On either side of the gable are decorated chimneys.

The walls were originally unpainted red-brick trimmed with 
yellow brick and limestone. All masonry surfaces are now 
painted a cream color. At the corners are brick quoins on 
the first floor and pilasters on the second and third floors 
which support wooden cornices. The corner pilasters on the 
center pavilion terminate as finials. A stone belt course 
separates the first and second floors. The windows are two- 
over-two, double-hung wooden sash with stone sills and 
splayed brick lintels with stone heads. They are framed 
on the sides with the same brick pattern found in the 
quoins. The third floor windows have round-arched, multi- 
paned transoms set in compound arches. The main entry is 
reached through a round-arched portal enframed with pilasters 
and stone-trimmed parapet. Other entries of similar design 
were on both the east and west elevations, but were removed as

Architectural/Engineering Statement of Significance
The former Wells Street Junior High School is of local 
architectural significance. The original part of this 
building (the 1885 portion on Wells Street) is a work 
of master architect Edward Townsend Mix. (H) Designed in 
the Queen Anne style, it represents a unique and rare 
example of later 19th century school architecture that 
was not common to Milwaukee. The subsequent additions 
in 1894, 1918, and 1932 reflected the increase in 
enrollment and the change in function from a State 
Normal School for teacher training to a public girl's 
trade school.(F) In 1894 an addition was designed to 
compliment the Queen Anne plan of the original, but 
with bolder details and proportions. The 1918 and 
1932 additions are Tudor style of high quality 
materials and craftsmanship. All of the additions are 
of architectural significance and do not detract from 
the integrity of the original building.

690 Bibliographic References (Sources)

(A) Howard L. Conard, ed., History of Milwaukee, 3 
vols. (Chicago: American Biographical Publishing 
Co., 1895), 1:166-68.

(B) (Frank A. Flowers), History of Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
(Chicago: The Western Historical Society Co., 
1881), p. 530.

(C) John G. Gregory, History of Milwaukee, Wisconsin, 
4 vols. (Chicago: S.J. Clarke Pub. Co., 1931), 
2: 1161-63.

(D) Edward James, ed., Notable American Women, 1607- 
1950: A Biographical Directory, 3 vols. 
(Cambridge, Mass.: Bel knap Press, 1971), 2:305-07.

(Continued)

700 Study Units (code)

350 Demolished

yes _ no

360 Date Demolished



1820oWest Wells Street
Page Two
Description Continued

the school was enlarged.

The Normal School was enlarged in 1894 with a 3-1/2 story addition of compatible design to the east elevation. 
It was designed to blend with the lines and proportions of the original structure and duplicated many of the 
original design features. To the casual observer, the two parts appear as one building. The addition is a 
rectangular block which measures five bays wide and seven bays long with a steeply-pitched hipped roof covered 
with slate. Duplicated in this addition are the slate covered, steeply-pitched gables whi.ch pierce the roof line, 
the decorated chimneys, the raised foundation of cut limestone blocks, the red brick walls and brick and stone trim 
now painted the same cream color, the brick quoins on the first floor and pilasters on the second and third floors, 
the belt course which separates the first and second floors, the windows which are wooden, double-hung sash, but 
are one-over-one lights with transoms on the first floor, and the round-arched transoms on the third floor set in 
compound arches.

In 1909, the Normal School was sold to the Milwaukee Public Schools and was converted to Milwaukee Girls'Trade and 
Technical School. It was enlarged in 1918 with an addition which occupies the southwest corner of the site. This 
addition is an L-shaped block, four stories high with a flat roof. The fourth floor was added in 1932. The design

of this addition is in stark contrast to the previous school buildings with a straight-forward, 
functional form that is embellished with modified Tudor*Gothic details.

The walls are surfaced with common brick laid in English bond and are trimmed with stone belt courses between the 
foundation and first floor, and second and third floors. A stone cornice projects from the walls and above rises 
what was the original plain, brick parapet. The facades are proportionately divided with brick piers simulating 
buttressing trimmed with stone. The hyphen which connects the Normal School to the addition is cream colored brick 
with the remaining building a varigated brown brick. The windows are six-over-six double-hung wooden sash with 
stone sills and lintels. The main entry on North 19th Street is an arched opening of triple-doors and transoms 
that is enframed with heavy carved stone rosettes. The windows above the entry are decorated with carved stone 
figures above the 19th Street entry and at the center of the Wells Street facade which represent women at work in 
various trades.

In 1932, the school was enlarged again. A four-story classroom office wing was added to the north of the 1918 addition 
with an auditorium to the rear. Its design heavily reflects the 1918 addition and continues the same general design 
elements and fenestral pattern. It is Tudor Gothic in style and the main facade on 19th Street is faced in light 
brown, tapestry brick laid in English bond. The other facades are faced in common brick laid on common bond. The 
19th Street facade continues the rythmic pattern of brick piers simulating buttresses trimmed with stone. There are 
stone belt courses between the second and third floors, and the third and fourth floors. The windows are double- 
hung, six-over-six wooden sash with stone lintels and sills. The windows on the first floor are recessed behind 
arched openings with carved stone hoods. The main entry on 19th Street is an elaborate composition of two double 
doors with transoms set within pointed carved stone arches with stone surrounds. Above on the second and third floors
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are oriel windows trimmed with stone. Within the oriel windows are leaded, stained glass panels depicting women 
working at various trades.

The interiors in plan and appearance are virtually intact in all parts of the building. In the two oldest sections 
the plan is generally a central hallway with classrooms and offices to either side. Features of note in this part 
of the school are the bulls-eye moldings, paneled doors with transoms, cornice moldings and wainscoting. In the 1918 
portion the rooms are trimmed with simple Prairie influenced moldings with the original doors and built-in cabinets. 
In the 1932 portion the auditorium is the finest space in the entire complex. The ceiling is coffered and is highly 
decorated with terra-cotta and stenciled acoustical tiles and friezes. It also retains the original light fixtures 
and wood slat seats. The library is another fine space with built-in light oak cabinets and shelves. At the center 
of the room on the west wall is an oriel window with stained glass panels depicting the arts and the trades. There 
are plaster relief figures along the ceiling also depicting the arts and the trades. "The plaster walls of the 
corridors are scored with a geometric pattern.
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Historical Background
In 1850 the U.S. Congress granted nearly 4 million acres of 
swamp and overflow land to the State. In 1857 the State 
Legislature appropriated 25 percent of the proceeds from the 
sale of these lands for the development and operation of 
state supported normal schools for teacher training. (A,C) 
A board of regents was incorporated in 1866 and the first 
schools were established at Platteville (1866) and 
Whitewater (1868). A third school was begun at Oshkosh 
(1871) and a fourth at River Falls (1875). (I) Requests 
for a school at Milwaukee were repeatedly turned down in 
spite of the intense lobbying of the Milwaukee members 
of the board. (A,I,L,M) At the local level normal school 
instruction was offered in the; public schools as early 
as 1859. The first classes were held in the Second Ward 
High School of which E.P. Larkin was principal. Even 
after the public high schools were abolished by the City 
in 1860, the Normal Department continued for two years. 
(A,B) The principals were allowed to use the buildings, 
but had to raise their own funds from tuition. By 1870 
public high schools had been reestablished and the State 
Legislature that year authorized Milwaukee school officials 
to establish and maintain a Normal Department in the City 
schools. (A,B) The first classes were held in 1871 and 
by 1873 the Normal Department was integrated into the 
curriculum of the high school. In 1875 a model school 
was opened in the Normal School Department of the high 
school. The following year it moved to its own building 
at the corner of Highland Avenue and North 7th Street 
where it was established as a separate professional 
school. (A)

In 1880, the Legislature mandated that the regents 
establish a Normal School in Milwaukee. This was 
agreed to by the regents only if the City would provide 
the State with land and buildings with a minimum value 
of $50,000. (I) The present site of the school

Historical Statement of Significance

The Milwaukee Normal School/Milwaukee Girls' Trade and 
Technical School is of state historical significance. 
It was originally a State Normal School for the pur­ 
pose of teacher training. With the establishment of 
the Milwaukee Normal School in 1885, admission require­ 
ments were progressively upgraded and the curriculum 
was expanded and specialized. These changes greatly 
improved the quality of teacher training and were 
implemented throughout the Normal School system. (L,I) 
It was the direct precursor to the present University 
of Wisconsin-Milwaukee and was located at this site 
until 1909 when the school moved to the current campus 
on the city's upper east side. In its second phase 
of major use (1909-1954), the facility was also 
significant as the Milwaukee Girls' Trade and Technical 
High School. The establishment of a public trades 
school for girls was a product of the Milwaukee Socialist 
movement of the early twentieth century. It represented 
a major accomplishment of the Social Democratic Party 
in achieving educational reforms at the local level. (J) 
Closely associated with the development of the school 
was Lizzie Black Kander. She was nationally known as 
a pioneer social worker in the settlement of 
immigrant Jews and as the principal author of the 
Settlement House Cookbook. An advocate of the 
Socialist's reforms, she led the crusade to establish 
the school. (I,J) Mrs. Kander was also one of the 
first women to be elected to the Milwaukee School 
Board. At the start of the 1910-11 school year, Miss 
Ora A. Blanchar was appointed principal. She was the 
dynamic force behind the expansion of the school's 
curriculum which led to it becoming a standard four year 
high school in 1926. Miss Blanchar also oversaw the 
physical expansion of the school With two additions con­ 
structed in 1918 & 1932.She was principal until her death 
in 1935. (E, K, 0)
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was selected by the City in 1881. Shortly thereafter, Edward Townsend Mix was awarded the design commission. He
had the plans prepared by the end of 1882 but construction of the school did not begin until almost a year later.
The school was completed in 1885 and opened that fall with 46 students and 7 faculty. (H)

One of the primary reasons the regents had resisted opening a Normal School in Milwaukee was the lack of sufficient 
funds. The amount received from the sale of swamp lands had increased, but the Board felt that the cost of operating 
a fifth school would exceed their means. To compensate for this, the State Legislature appropriated $10,000 per 
annum for the operation of the Milwaukee Normal School until the Normal School fund could again handle the expense. 
(M) Another reason why there was resistance to opening another Normal School was that the existing Normal Schools 
had not been as successful as had been hoped in providing the bulk of the State's teachers, since it was possible 
to become a teacher by simply taking an oral examination conducted by the school principal. Taking the oral 
exam was an inexpensive alternative to Normal School training and Normal School graduates did not really have an 
advantage in placement or salary over non-trained teachers. For about the first 30 years of operation the Normal 
Schools were not particularly attractive to would-be teachers. (L)

When the Milwaukee Normal School opened in 1885, a new era in teacher training began. Admission standards were 
higher, the completion of high school or the equivalent was required for admission, and by the end of the century 
the Normal School curriculum had been expanded and specialized to the level of professional collegiate training. 
These changes resulted in the upgrading of the reputation of the Normal Schools as credible institutions for 
teacher training. (I,L) At its inception, the Milwaukee Normal School was the only one in the State that required 
high school graduation as a condition for matriculation. (H) v In its first year, both the one year elementary course 
and the two year advanced course were offered. In subsequent years, only the latter was taught. (M) The initial 
curriculum included reviews of branches of knowledge taught in common school including physiology, natural history, 
physics, chemistry, geology, English language and literature, political science, U.S. history, school management, 
and the history of education. All students were required to take at least one class in either music or art and 
participate in field trips to Milwaukee's cultural, educational and business establishments. Manual training in 
woodworking was added in 1886. Instruction in manual training was enhanced by the Sloyd method from Sweden 
introduced by school president John J. Mapel in 1890. This method emphasized neatness and exactness through 
training the hands and eyes. (T) A model school for grades one through six was also part of the original Normal 
School. In the first year there were 112 pupils whose parents paid 15 to 30 cents per week in tuition so that 
their children could obtain a superior education and less exposure to the lower classes of society. Students in 
the Normal School paid 75 cents per week in tuition, which was waived if the graduate agreed to teach in Wisconsin 
public schools.
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Even with its apparent advantages, the Milwaukee Normal School enrollment grew slowly. By 1892 there were only 
80 students. (L) In the same year, the new school president, Lorenzo Dow Harvey, launched a publicity campaign 
extolling the benefits of normal school education. Letters were sent to thousands of graduating high school 
seniors and the principals of the area schools. Harvey's effort was an overwhelming success and 360 students 
enrolled for the 1896-97 school year. (L) Among the changes implemented by Harvey were the addition of a two 
year kindergarten training program in 1892. Nina Vandewalker from the Whitewater Normal School came to head the 
program in Milwaukee in 1897. She was a distinguished educator in this field who wrote in 1908 the Kindergarten 
in American Education. In 1920 she left Milwaukee Normal School to accept a position in the U.S. Office of 
Education as a kindergarten specialist. (I) He also had the first school year book, The Echo, published in 1896, 
the curriculum expanded to include specializationsiin English, Latin, German and mathmatics, and the raising of 
admission standards to include an exam in four related subjects in 1898. (I,L) Enrollment was further enhanced 
when the University of Wisconsin at Madison Regents allowed students graduating from the Normal School specialized 
course to enter the University as juniors. (I) This, together with the lack of teacher training programs at 
Milwaukee's other major colleges, Marquette and Concordia, resulted in the Milwaukee Normal School's expansion 
into the State's largest teacher training institution. (C)

The increase in enrollment necessitated an addition to the east end of the original building in 1894. By 1908 
the enrollment had increased to 503. (A) Two lots were purchased to the west of the building for a second 
addition, but building inspection reports critical of the old building's condition prompted the Normal School to 
move its campus in 1909 into the still extant structure (Mitchell Hall) on the northwest corner of Downer Avenue 
and Kenwood Boulevard. (I) From this first building the Milwaukee Normal School eventually evolved into the 
present University of Wisconsin at Milwaukee.

In the same year that the Normal School moved to Downer Avenue, the Milwaukee Board of School Directors authorized 
the establishment of a school of trades for girls. The Girls' Trade and Technical High School was one product of 
the many social reforms instituted by Milwaukee's Social Democratic Party. (J) The Social Democrats were a 
coalition of Socialist trade unionists, dissident immigrants and other working class people who reacted against 
not only corrupt government practices, but also the widening gap between the industrial rich and the urban poor. 
The impetus for educational reform on the part of the Social Democrats came from the movement begun by middle and 
upper income Milwaukee housewives who were appalled by the condition of the public schools in the working class 
districts of the city. Their organization - the Women's School Alliance (WSA) - founded 1891^ was the first non- 
political activist group who were outspoken partisans of the urban poor. It was the diligent efforts of the WSA 
which helped lay the groundwork for the rise of the Social Democrats to political power and community respect. One 
goal of the Social Democrats, as inherited from the WSA, was to provide adequate public instruction and vocational 
training which was accessible to all income groups and social classes. (J)
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The establishment of a girls trade school was a personal goal of Lizzie Black Kander. She was a leader in the 
WSA and a prominent social worker among Milwaukee's Jewish immigrants. Mrs. Kander was the founder of the 
Settlement House, a social center which held classes in sewing, cooking, household management, industrial arts 
and English for the poor and working classes who were primarily immigrants. She became nationally famous for 
her Settlement House Cookbook, which has had 40 editions and over 1 million copies in print. (J,D)

As a leader in the school reform movement, she was the second woman elected to the Milwaukee School Board. She 
served from 1907 to 1919. Mrs. Kander was not affiliated with the Social Democratics but consistently supported 
their demands for educational reform. The opening of the Milwaukee Girls' Trades School in 1909 was a long awaited 
goal of Mrs. Kander's for public supported female vocational training. The purpose of this school was to train 
females in a vocation or trade with specific skills that would allow them to be gainfully employed at a respectable 
wage. This was in contrast to the then common practice of secondary school age children being drawn into menial 
jobs without a proper education. Admission required the completion of 8th grade and the ability to read, write 
and speak English. There was no tuition charge for students under 20, but a small material fee of $.50 per month 
was assessed. Each term was about 11 months long with the school day ending at 4:30 p.m. and half-days on 
Saturday. Vacations were limited to legal holidays and a two-week summer break in July. (J,0)

The first principal of the school was Miss Helen Donovan under the direction of Mr. Charles Perry. In 1910 she was 
replaced by Miss Ora A. Blanchar. She had studied domestic science at Milwaukee-Downer College and later taught 
cooking in several Milwaukee public schools. While principal of the school, she broadened the curriculum to 
include a full liberal and fine arts program with literature, English grammar, foreign language, history, geography, 
music, art and science. She was quoted as saying, "it was just as important for my girls to know how to speak French 
as to make accurate dress measurements." (K)

Initially, there were two main courses of study: Trade Dressmaking and Millinery. In each course the student 
progressed through learning basic stitches and the making of simple objects like pin cushions and aprons to the 
construction of complicated undergarments like corsets and elaborate ball gowns. Each student received supplemental 
classes in the liberal arts, the fine arts, drafting (necessary for taking measurements and cutting patterns), 
housekeeping and physical training. The average length of study was two years with advancement based upon the 
mastering of a particular skill or technique. In 1919 a Commercial Department was added with classes in shorthand, 
touch typing, bookkeeping, and business calculations. Girls in this course of study were required to take sewing 
and cooking as well. By 1926 the school became a full senior high school and was renamed Girls' Trades and 
Technical High School. Miss Blanchar was granted numerous fellowships during her tenure for advanced study at
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the University of Wisconsin - Madison and at Cornell, Columbia and Oxford Universities. It was while she was 
principal that the 1918 and 1932 additions to the facility were built. She supervised the floor plan design and 
the selection and installation of equipment. When she died in 1935, while still principal, the school had become 
one of the most respected institutions of female vocational education at the local level in the state with an 
enrollment that had risen from 33 students in 1909 to 1,577. (K,0)

After World War II, the enrollment in the school began to decline. By that time the demand for highly skilled 
dressmakers had lessened and most students desired to be more broadly educated on the secondary level before 
pursuing a trade or vocation. The trade school ceased operation in 1955 when the building became the Wells Street 
Junior High School. It operated as a junior high school until 1979. In 1982 it was sold to the Milwaukee Rescue 
Mission to be used as a family living center.
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